1953

Randolph Land & Livestock Co. et al v. United States of America et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah granted an
appeal from an interlocutory decree entered on February

7, 1953, in the District Court of Rich County, State of Utah. By such interlocutory decree appealed from, the district court overruled and dismissed the objections filed by appellants to the stockwatering "diligence rights" claims, and also the stock watering claims based upon applications to appropriate water filed by the Forest Service and by the Bureau of Land Management of the United States of America, listed on pages 327, 328, 361 and 362 of the State Engineer's "Proposed Determination of Water Rights in Bear River, Rich County, Utah, Drainage Area." (Volume III, Record on Appeal).

The only matters in controversy here, relate to the claims of water rights asserted by the United States of America on behalf of the Forest Service and the Bureau of Land Management. The rights of appellants and others are not involved in this appeal. Consequently, notwithstanding the voluminous character of the State Engineer's "Proposed Determination" (Volume III of the Record on Appeal), only pages i, ii, 327, 328, 329, 361 and 362 are material to this appeal. For the convenience of the court, the essential items of pleading, the stipulation of facts and other matters which would constitute an abstract of the record, are incorporated into the Statement of Facts.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 13, 1942, the respondent State Engineer filed his original petition for a general adjudication of

the rights to the use of the waters of Bear River drainage area in Rich County, Utah (R. 1-5). On May 14, 1945, an amended petition was filed (R. 6-8). An order was entered for publication of notice to water claimants, September 1, 1948 (R. 9).

Some two years after the filing of the original petition for a general adjudication, the United States Forest Service and the Grazing Service (later known as the Bureau of Land Management) filed in the office of the State Engineer, various applications to appropriate water for *stockwatering* purposes, all of which were listed as approved claims in the State Engineer's "Proposed Determination of Water Rights in Bear River, Rich County, Utah, Drainage Area," in 1951, pages 327 and 328.

On April 2, 1951, *after* the Proposed Determination had gone to press, the United States of America through the Forest Service, filed with the State Engineer, "water users' claims" numbered 1104 to 1115 inclusive, as "diligence rights" claims for stock watering, based upon the alleged use of water in some instances as early as 1865. As indicated in the Stipulation of facts, not one of those claims was based on any alleged use by any agency of the Federal government, nor by any officer or agent of the United States, but based entirely on the use of water for livestock made by various livestock operators who had grazed their stock on government-owned lands. Those claims were added to the Proposed Determination, as an appendix, pages 361 to 362.

The State Engineer by his "Proposed Determination" recommended allowance of all of the claims therein listed, including all of the claims filed by the United States of America. He further stated (Volume III, page ii) :

"10. This proposal is intended to cover all existing rights and those subsisting applications initiated in the State Engineer's Office and not perfected at this time within the area described. The rights listed herein which are founded upon contemplated appropriations of water by reason of subsisting applications filed in the State Engineer's Office, are subject to their inclusion in a decree conditioned upon compliance with the terms of the applications upon which each respective contemplated appropriation is based, and upon compliance with the provisions of the Laws of the State of Utah relating thereto, and Proof of Appropriation being made to the State Engineer in compliance with said laws. At the end of the five-year period herein-after mentioned, the status of said applications shall be reported by the State Engineer to the court, at which time the final decree should be made to agree with the records of said applications, as shown by the records in the State Engineer's Office. Any applications which are not perfected at the end of the five-year period should be excluded from the decree.

"11. It is recommended that the rights to the use of water within the area covered by this proposal be decreed to the various parties substantially as set forth herein. It is further recommended that the court retain jurisdiction of this case for a period of five years for the purpose of making adjustments, correcting errors and for such other purposes as time may indicate to the

court as proper and just. In all matters whatsoever pertaining to this determination and the decree to be rendered, the services and advice of the State Engineer are at all times available to the court."

After receipt of a copy of the Proposed Determination, appellants in 1951 filed the following "Objections to the Proposed Determination of Water Rights in the Bear River Drainage of Rich County, Utah, by the State Engineer" (R. Vol. II, pages 90-94):

"Petitioners allege and petition the Court as follows:

I

"That they and each of them are owners of ranch and range lands located in the water drainage area herein concerned, which lands and the forage produced annually thereon are used to feed and to graze great numbers of livestock which petitioners own and operate; that petitioners also graze, in addition to the lands they own and individually control, the public domain and Forest Reserve lands of the United States of America which are located in this drainage area with said livestock. That petitioners and their predecessors in interest have conducted the said livestock operations for a period of time prior to the year 1900 and continuously since that date.

II

"That located upon and coursing through and across the above said privately owned, public domain and Forest Reserve lands are waters which the petitioners and their respective predecessors

in interest have used to water said livestock and to irrigate certain of their ranch lands for all of the above said period of time.

III

“That petitioners have each appropriated the waters and the rights to the use of waters as the State Engineer for the State of Utah sets out in his ‘proposed determination of water rights’ which have been filed with the Court in this case, and each of the petitioners now own exclusively the rights to the use of the waters as proposed by the State Engineer in his said proposal, and have a continuing need for the use of these waters.

IV.

“That the United States of America has, since the State Engineer’s original petition which initiated this action for a determination of the water rights concerned was filed herein, through its departments of Agriculture and Interior, filed with the said State Engineer numerous applications and claims for the appropriation and recognized use and rights to the use of certain waters as listed and set out in the said proposed determination submitted to this Court by the State Engineer; that the said applications are identified in the proposal for determination of these water rights by the State Engineer and at the page of said document as follows:

W. U.

<i>Application</i>	<i>Claim</i>		
<i>No.</i>	<i>No.</i>	<i>Page</i>	<i>Source</i>
16887	778	327	Well
20337	993	327	Well

16881	772	327	Reservoir
16877	768	327	Spring
a-2388	1096	327	Well
16879	770	327	Spring
16788	787	327	Reservoir
16878	769	327	Spring
16787	786	327	Reservoir
16886	777	327	Reservoir
16807	793	327	Reservoir
19622	1018	327	Well
16810	796	327	Reservoir
19872	1016	327	Well
16791	790	327	Reservoir
16790	789	327	Reservoir
17240	780	327	Spring
17272	782	327	Spring
17241	781	327	Spring
16786	785	327	Spring
20077	1098	327	Well
16789	788	327	Reservoir
16806	792	327	Spring
16808	794	327	Reservoir
16882	773	327	Reservoir
16884	775	327	Reservoir
21297	1004	328	Well
16809	795	328	Spring
16883	774	328	Spring
16805	791	328	Spring
17239	779	328	Spring
16880	771	328	Spring
16785	784	328	Spring
19954	1099	328	Well
16885	776	328	Spring

“That in addition to the above listed applications for appropriation the United States of America has also filed with the State Engineer numerous claims to the use of water in the area

here involved, which said claims are each made as a diligence right and for livestock watering purposes. The said claims are listed in the appendix of the State Engineer's said proposed determination at the page and with claim numbers and source of water as follows, they having been filed after the said proposed determination has been submitted to the printer.

<i>Claim No.</i>	<i>Page</i>	<i>Source</i>
1104	361	Creek
1105	361	Creek
1106	361	Creek
1107	361	Stream
1108	361	Creek
1109	361	Creek
1110	361	Creek
1111	361	Creek
1112	361	Creek
1113	362	Creek
1114	362	Creek
1115	362	Creek

"That the United States of America has not heretofore made any use of the waters included in its above said claims and applications, nor has it made any other beneficial use thereof as contemplated by the laws of the State of Utah; that no legislation is pending for the purpose of authorizing the United States of America to own or to operate livestock which might make any beneficial use of the said waters, nor is there any reasonable possibility that the United States of America may, in the foreseeable future, put said waters or any part thereof to any other beneficial use.

V

"That the said applications and claims filed by the United States of America conflict with rights to the use of waters held individually by petitioners; and amount to representations by the said applicant that there are waters available surplus to the needs of petitioners or others, whereas no such surplus waters exist in said area; that such representations on the part of the said applicant serve no useful purpose and tend to cast a cloud upon the water rights owned within this area by petitioners; that since the United States of America has made no beneficial use of said waters and is in no position to make such use thereof now nor in the foreseeable future, no appropriation of said water can be recognized nor granted under governing law and regulations; and that the endeavor on the part of the United States to assume and take control of the waters described in its considerable number of applications and claims amounts to an unlawful attempt to deny to citizens an opportunity to acquire this property.

VI

"That the State Engineer proposes in his above mentioned proposed determination of the water rights in the drainage area herein concerned, to grant to the United States of America a period of five years within which to comply with the requirements of law as to the applications heretofore listed, and proposes that a final determination of the water rights in this area be not made until the end of said period.

VII

"That the State Engineer recommends in his

proposed determination herein filed that the decree of this Court now recognize and approve the diligence claims of the United States of America as heretofore listed and set forth in the appendix at pages 361 and 362 of the said proposed determination, and that the decree of this Court award to the United States of America the rights to the use of the waters described in said claim.

“NOW, THEREFORE, petitioners and each of them respectfully pray for judgment as follows:

“1. That an order now be issued awarding no part of the water rights as listed herein to the United States of America, and which order shall adjudge and decree that the United States of America has never made and is unable to make a beneficial use of waters for livestock watering purposes as is contemplated and required by the laws of the State of Utah; that such beneficial use is necessary to complete an appropriation of waters in this State, and rejecting each application and diligence claim filed by the United States of America as listed herein.

“2. Ordering and directing the State Engineer to immediately reject each of the applications filed by the United States of America as herein listed, together with any other application for similar appropriations which might have been filed for or in behalf of the United States; and ordering and directing the State Engineer to issue such notices as may be required to show the denial of each of the diligence claims filed for the use of waters in the drainage area herein concerned.

“3. For such other and further relief as to the Court may seem just and equitable.”

The objections filed by appellants to all of the claims asserted on behalf of the Federal Government, came on for hearing on August 20, 1952, (R. 28-44). At said hearing, appellants orally moved to strike each and every one of the claims of the United States of America listed in said Proposed Determination (R. 28-30). Appellants moved to strike each of the "diligence rights" claims listed on pages 361 to 362 upon each of the following grounds:

1. The so-called diligence rights and each of them are invalid on the face of the record, inasmuch as they purport to antedate the existence of the Forest Service of the United States—many years prior to the creation of the Forest Service — and no diligence right could possibly have been acquired by any agency prior to its existence.

2. The Forest Service at no time owned any livestock in the area.

3. Neither the United States of America nor the Forest Service operated any livestock in the area so as to be able to acquire any diligence water rights.

4. There has never been any authority of law for the United States Forest Service or the Bureau of Land Management to operate in the livestock business, and therefore, no authority to appropriate water under the law.

5. The claims are based not on any use made by the

United States of America, but on use made by individual water users, who did not act in any governmental capacity nor on behalf of the United States of America.

6. The claims are contrary to Federal law, which precluded the Government from claiming water rights, particularly in the capacity in which the claims were filed. The decisions of the United States Supreme Court based upon statutes enacted as early as 1866, recognized the fact that the United States had no water rights nor could claim water rights on the public domain.

Appellants also moved to strike each of the claims of the United States of America listed on pages 327 and 328 of the Proposed Determination, upon the same grounds (R. 30), and in addition thereto protestants alleged:

Application No. 16887, claim No. 778,
Application No. 16878, claim No. 769,
Application No. 16807, claim No. 793,
Application No. 16886, claim No. 777,
Application No. 16810, claim No. 796,
Application No. 19872, claim No. 1016,
Application No. 16790, claim No. 789,
Application No. 17240, claim No. 780,
Application No. 17272, claim No. 782,
Application No. 16808, claim No. 794,
Application No. 16789, claim No. 788,
Application No. 16882, claim No. 773,

have all lapsed and therefore there is nothing to ad-

judicate; and applicants are to be allowed five years in which to perfect appropriations, but beneficial use is impossible as to any of those applications. Application No. 17241, claim No. 781, and application No. 16786, claim No. 785, were withdrawn according to the information received at the State Engineer's office, and such applications could not be allowed in this proceeding. In addition thereto, the balance of the applications and each and all of the applications are predicated upon a claim of a right to appropriate water, not on the basis of any use made by the United States of America, but on the basis of use by permittees of the United States of America, which is contrary to law. The United States of America has invoked a regulation to the effect that no person is entitled to a permit and he is not regarded as a bona fide livestock operator unless he actually owns and operates livestock, and therefore, by its own regulation the United States of America is precluded from asserting a water right under any of these applications; and it is also precluded from asserting any diligence rights. (R. 30-32, Exhibit "A").

It was admitted at the hearing that the United States of America is not a livestock operator in the area. It owns no cattle ranches and no livestock (R. 33).

Following said hearing of August 20, 1952, a written Stipulation was entered into between the United States of America, the State Engineer, and the appellants herein, filed September 10, 1952, which Stipulation of facts is as follows (R. 12-15):

“STIPULATION

“The water rights asserted by the United States of America in this case, are limited to rights which can be acquired under the laws of the state of Utah. Any sovereign rights which the United States of America might claim in or with respect to the waters of Bear River as an interstate stream, are not listed in the Proposed Determination of the State Engineer, and are not before the court. The alleged water rights of the United States consist of (1) so-called “diligence rights,” based upon an alleged beneficial use initiated prior to 1903 and evidenced by water users’ claims filed with the State Engineer allegedly pursuant to the provisions of Section 3, Chapter 97, Laws of Utah 1949, and (2) application for appropriation of water filed by the United States allegedly pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 3, Title 100, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended.

“IT IS STIPULATED:

“1. On or about April 2, 1951, the United States of America filed with the State Engineer water users’ claims numbered 1104 to 1115, both inclusive, which claims are listed as diligence claims in the Proposed Determination on pages 361 and 362. The diligence claims are based upon the use of water for stock watering purposes by livestock operators and others who in the past have grazed livestock on the public domain. Such use commenced in 1875 and has continued down to the present time.

“2. The United States of America has neither owned nor operated any of the livestock which has watered at the sources of supply or at any of the watering places listed in either the

claims of diligence rights or in the applications for appropriation. Any beneficial use of the waters with which the United States or any governmental agency is here concerned is a use made by livestock exclusively owned and operated by interests other than the United States of America.

"3. No grazing permits were issued on the Cache National Forest by the United States Forest Service prior to 1906, and no permits for grazing of livestock on public lands of the United States outside of the national forest were issued prior to 1935.

"4. In filing the aforesaid diligence rights claims on April 2, 1951, the officials of the United States at whose instance said claims were filed, did so in the belief that the past use of the water at the points listed in the claims, by livestock operators, has inured to the benefit of the United States of America. In filing the applications to appropriate water, the government officials at whose instance such applications were filed, did so with the purpose of acquiring for the United States of America, water rights through the use of water by livestock operators grazing livestock under permits issued by the United States for the use of forage grown on public lands.

"5. The sources of water supply described in the so-called "diligence rights" claims described above, and in the applications for appropriation filed by the United States of America as listed below, arise generally upon public lands of the United States, with the possible exception of Little Crawford Spring, shown in the State Engineer's Proposed Determination as Claim No. 275. Waters from some of said sources run off the public lands, onto privately owned lands of objectors and

others. All streams referred to in the diligence claims listed above, and in the applications for appropriation listed below, run through public lands and also through privately owned lands in Rich County, Utah. The objectors and other livestock operators in the area concerned, own ranches and also range lands, through which these streams run. Some of these privately owned lands border upon and some lie across each of the streams mentioned in the claims filed by the United States of America. Objectors and other livestock operators also own lands in the vicinity of each of the streams and springs hereinabove mentioned, so that the waters involved in controversy can be properly utilized by livestock which graze on these privately owned lands.

“6. The following applications for appropriation of water were filed by the United States with the State Engineer of the State of Utah, were approved by him and according to the records of his office are in good standing.

17239	16788	16809
17240	16787	16883
17272	19622	16805
20337	16791	16880
16881	20077	16785
16877	16806	19954
A-2388	16884	16885
16879	21297	

“7. The following applications for appropriation of water were filed by the United States with the State Engineer, were approved by him, but subsequently such applications lapsed or were withdrawn:

17241*	16886	19872	16789
16887	16807	16790	16808
16878	16810	16786*	16882

"8. The objectors herein claim rights as listed in the State Engineer's Proposed Determination, on the same streams or water courses, but down-stream from points of diversion specified in the claims or applications of the United States of America. Objectors also claim rights in opposition to the claims of the United States as listed in the State Engineer's Proposed Determination, designated as follows:

Objectors'			United States'	
<i>Claim</i>	<i>Page</i>	<i>Source</i>	<i>Claim</i>	<i>Page</i>
682	156	Upper Otter Creek Spring	779	328
508	156	Upper Otter Creek	779	328
275	129	Little Crawford Spg.	780	327
499	173	Hawk Spring	784	328
495	152	Old Canyon Spring	795	328
500	155	Otter Creek Spring	774	326 "

The foregoing Stipulation was approved by the court on September 13, 1952, at the further hearing on the objections of appellants (R. 44). At said hearing the United States of America agreed to withdraw claim to Little Crawford Spring situated on privately owned land (R. 47). The Bountiful Livestock Company was added to the list of objectors (R. 50).

At said hearing counsel for the United States of America stated for the record that "the whole purpose of the United States and the agencies actively making claims to the water in this case" is "entirely for the bene-

fit of permittees and other grantees to graze on the public lands" (R. 51). The following statement taken from each application filed by the United States was read into the record as part of the statement of the purpose of the Government in making the filings (R. 52):

"The purpose of the appropriation is to provide water for livestock using the surrounding federal range and to conserve and regulate the public grazing lands to stabilize the livestock industry dependent on them and in aid thereof to promote proper use of the privately controlled lands and water dependent upon the public grazing lands. The quantity of water sought to be appropriated is limited to that which can be beneficially used by the persons herein described."

Counsel for the objectors then offered in evidence, and the court received in evidence, Exhibit "A", the Federal Range Code for Grazing Districts. Exhibit "B", was admitted in evidence, which is a map pertaining to Forest Reserve lands involved in this case, which shows that privately owned and state owned lands are checkerboarded in many instances with federally owned land (R. 53-54).

With respect to the "diligence rights" claims, it was stipulated in open court that the United States withdrew its claims of priority as to any uses claimed to be in conflict with the claim of appellants, so that the claims asserted by the Federal government would be junior to the claims of objectors (R. 55-57, 63-65). After the case was argued by written memoranda, the Honorable Lewis

Jones, district judge, issued his Memorandum of decision on January 12, 1953, as follows (R. 16-17) :

"Objectors have moved to strike from the proposed final decree certain portions thereof wherein water rights are proposed by the State Engineer of Utah to be decreed to the United States. By oral argument and written brief, these parties challenge the legal right of the United States to own or control water rights in this State in connection with the administration of public lands under the Land Management statutes. Each of these springs or water courses arise on the public lands within Rich County.

"Questions presented include: whether springs which arise on the public domain and never reach private property passed to the control of Utah under the Enabling and subsequent Acts; whether the United States can claim 'diligence' rights by reason of the manner of use of said springs prior to the creation of the Forest Service; whether there has ever been statutory authorization for the United States to take the title to or hold water rights either in its own right or as a trustee for its permittees under the several Forest Service and Land Management statutes; whether (assuming that the appropriation must be made under Utah law) the government has had those tools or animals under its control so that the use made of the waters appropriated, or sought to be appropriated, is the use of the United States and not the use of someone else; and whether (same assumption as supra) the State Engineer's approval of certain applications to appropriate water rights (and the issuance of the usual certificate of appropriation under our statute) can be subjected to collateral attack in this proceeding.

"At the hearing a written stipulation of facts was submitted by the parties. During the oral argument, the United States withdrew its claim No. 780 on Little Crawford Springs and further stipulated that the final decree might recite that in each case of appropriation of water by the United States from the same stream or other source of supply, the priority of objectors' rights may be shown in the final decree as senior to the priority of the Government's rights. This waiver on the part of the United States does not satisfy the objectors. They maintain that they will still be injured because they will be barred in the future from acquiring new rights should the Government be allocated any water rights whatsoever. Objectors further maintain that the Government should not be permitted to pre-empt the water and thereby control the livestock industry in the bureaucratic manner in which it has been functioning in the past.

"But, in view of the waiver of priority on the part of the government, I do not feel that a justiciable controversy is presented for determination. See *Huntsville Irrigation Co. v. District Court*, 72 Utah 431.

"The attorneys for the Government may prepare findings, conclusions, and a proposed interlocutory decree covering the issues raised in this particular proceedings, serve copies on counsel and mail the original to me at Brigham. In this way it will be possible for the objectors to take an intermediate appeal, should they be so advised, prior to the signing of the final decree."

The findings of fact recite that "the United States of America on various dates subsequent to the year 1944

made applications under State law for appropriation of water for stock watering purposes" at points on public lands; that the government also filed diligence claims numbered 1104 to 1115 inclusive, which claims are listed on pages 361 to 362 of the Proposed Determination; that as shown by the Stipulation, objectors claim rights as listed in the Proposed Determination, on the same streams or water courses, but down-stream from points of diversion specified in the claims or applications filed by the United States of America, and objectors also claim rights in opposition to the claims of the United States listed in the Proposed Determination which are enumerated; that it was stipulated that "in each case of appropriation of water by the United States from a source of supply from which the objectors have made an appropriation, the priority of objectors' rights is senior to the priority of the right of the United States;" and that "the claim of the United States to the water of Little Crawford Spring, evidenced by Claim No. 780, page 327 of the Proposed Determination, could be considered withdrawn because the claim was made upon the assumption that the Little Crawford Spring was located on public land, where, as a matter of fact, such spring is located on private land." (R. 18-19).

By conclusion of law it is specified that the United States of America "is entitled to an Interlocutory Decree overruling and denying the objections to the Proposed Determination interposed by Randolph Land and Livestock Company, Desert Livestock Company, Harold

Selman, Nick Chournos, Orval Johnson and William Johnson and declaring that there is no justiciable issue or contest between the objectors, or any of them, and the United States of America." (R. 19). By the interlocutory decree it is provided (R. 20) :

"IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED:

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