1953

Randolph Land & Livestock Co. et al v. United States of America et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A PROCEEDING FOR THE GENERAL DETERMINATION AND ADJUDICATION OF ALL RIGHTS TO THE USE OF WATER WITHIN A GIVEN DRAINAGE AREA INVOLVES THE RIGHTS OF

ALL PARTIES THEREIN, INCLUDING THE STATE OF UTAH, FOR AND AGAINST EACH OTHER IN AND TO ALL THE WATERS WITHIN THE DRAINAGE AREA.

In the case of *Huntsville Irrigation Assn. vs. District Court of Weber County*, 72 Utah 431, 270 P. 1090, this question was presented to the court and so decided and the court said:

In view of these provisions of the statute, it is difficult to avoid the conclusion that it was contemplated by the Legislature that by this form of action the rights of all claimants, whether conflicting or otherwise, could and should be adjudicated and determined so that the same might be made a matter of public record available at all times as evidence of such rights.

The office of the State Engineer of the State of Utah has made every effort to present his Proposed Determination in proper shape to include every right within the drainage area of the Bear River in Rich County, Utah. (Volume III, Record on Appeal.) And this Court, by an examination of this volume, may take judicial notice that this Proposed Determination is the result of careful and diligent effort on the part of the State Engineer and his assistants to so include every possible claim in this area. It is our hope that, when final judgment is entered in this general adjudication proceeding, that not only will all rights be shown therein, but that no rights will be included that are not just and proper rights; and it is also our hope that, from time to time, this Proposed Determination may be brought

to date in order to include new rights and to delete those that may have been lost by non-use and to indicate other changes in ownership.

We, therefore, contend that, to the extent as herein-after indicated, there is a justiciable controversy that should be tried and the issues found thereon.

POINT II

THOSE CLAIMS FILED BY THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND DESIGNATED AS "DILIGENCE RIGHTS" AND THOSE CLAIMS FILED BY THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BASED UPON CERTIFICATES OF APPROPRIATION, WHERE TIMELY OBJECTION TO THEIR INCLUSION IN A PROPOSED DETERMINATION IS MADE, PRESENT AN ISSUE OF FACT FOR DETERMINATION BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Certificates for the appropriation of water issued by the office of the State Engineer are a creature of statute, and the last sentence of Section 73-3-17, Utah Code Annotated 1953, states:

The certificate (of appropriation) so issued and filed shall be prima facie evidence of the owner's right to the use of the water in the quantity, for the purpose, at the place and during the time specified therein, subject to prior rights.

Prior to the year 1903, a right to the use of water was acquired by an application of that water to a beneficial use and we have consistently recognized such a right and have placed it in the same general category as a right obtained by a certificate of appropriation. In a general adjudication proceeding, a water user's claim

is filed based upon either a diligence right, a decreed right, a right evidenced by a certificate of appropriation, or an initiated right evidenced by an application to appropriate. Decreed rights are not involved in the present matter and rights initiated by applications to appropriate are hereafter discussed in this brief. At this point, we are concerned with the other two.

It is our contention that the filing of these claims by the United States of America presented a prima facie case for the existence of those rights and that the filing of the objections by the appellants raised an issue of fact. Neither the stipulation of facts, to which the State of Utah is not a party, nor the waiver of priority by the government settled this issue of fact; and, as we have heretofore stated, it is our earnest desire to secure a decree that will show all rights as they now exist and that will show no rights that should not be included.

We would at this point call the Court's attention to the record in this matter which contains no evidence other than the Stipulation of Facts entered into between the United States and the appellants herein; and it is our contention that it is not possible to finally determine the questions here presented upon the few facts contained in that Stipulation. In order to make proof of appropriation upon an application, it is necessary for the water user to show the location of the stream and the point of diversion, a detailed statement, including drawings of the diversion works, the acreage irrigated, or, in the case of stockwatering, the number and kind of stock watered and the amount of water diverted and

beneficially used; and, in the case of diligence rights, substantially the same factual situation must be determined by the State Engineer before such a right is placed in the Proposed Determination.

We feel that Section 73-4-12, Utah Code Annotated 1953, is conclusive on this question and we have underlined the last part of this section as hereinafter quoted:

If no contest on the part of any claimant shall have been filed, the court shall render a judgment in accordance with such proposed determination, which shall determine and establish the rights of the several claimants to the use of the water of said river system or water source; and among other things it shall set forth the name and post-office address of the person entitled to the use of the water; the quantity of water in acre feet or the flow of water in second feet; the time during which the water is to be used each year; the name of the stream or other source from which the water is diverted; the point on the stream or other source where the water is diverted; the priority date of the right; *and such other matters as will fully and completely define the rights of said claimants to the use of the water.*

The sections of the code dealing with protests and objections are 73-4-13, 73-4-14, and 73-4-15, Utah Code Annotated 1953, and they specifically refer to the section above quoted as the basis for the final decree.

This statute was carefully considered by this Court in *Huntsville Irrigation Assn. v. District Court*, supra, and the Court made the following comments with respect thereto:

The statute, as before stated, provides that the claims filed by the claimants shall stand in

the place of pleadings and issues may be made thereon. As we interpret that provision, if one claim conflicts with another, there is an issue to be determined. One claimant by claiming too much water may be an adverse party to every other claimant in the system. He may be adverse to only a part. In any event an issue is presented which should be tried by the Court by the same rules of evidence and the same orderly procedure as in other cases. * * * Every facility seems to have been provided for a thorough adjudication of the rights of each claimant as against every other claimant as well as against the state. There is nothing in any previous decision of this court involving this statute in conflict with these views.

The later case of *Plain City Irrigation Company v. Hooper Irrigation Company*, 87 Utah 545, 51 P. 2d 1069, again concerns the general determination statute and reaffirms the views expressed in the Huntsville case.

POINT III

APPLICATIONS TO APPROPRIATE WATER HERETOFORE FILED BY THE UNITED STATES WHICH ARE STILL PENDING APPLICATIONS SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED AT THIS TIME. THE MERE FACT THAT THE APPLICANT DOES NOT OWN LAND OR STOCK WILL NOT OF ITSELF PREVENT PROOF OF BENEFICIAL USE.

It is well settled in this State that ownership of land is not a necessary requisite of the right to appropriate water. We do not feel that there is any need to cite the many cases on this point other than to call attention to the following statement made by this Court in *Whitmore v. Salt Lake City*, 89 Utah 387, 57 P. 2d 726, 732, as follows :

The right to the use of water is independent of the right to land.

And it is also noted that in the Proposed Determination it is recommended that the District Court retain jurisdiction for a five year period after rendition of judgment for the express purpose of permitting the State Engineer to report as to these pending applications. It is, therefore, urged upon the Court that, until proof of appropriation is submitted to the State Engineer and a further report made by him to the District Court, the lower court's determination that there is no justiciable controversy is correct in connection with these pending applications.

CONCLUSION

The State of Utah, acting through its State Engineer, respectfully urges that the decree of the lower court as it affects pending applications to appropriate water is correct and should be affirmed but that said decree as it affects diligence rights and certificates of appropriation is in error and that this cause in that respect should be reversed and remanded for the taking of further evidence.